IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ALLEN GRIFFIN,
Appellant,

APPEAL NUMBER: SC01-457

v.

LOWER CASE NO.: F90-

STATE OF FLORIDA, 16875C

Appellee.

ON APPEAL IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE ALEX E. FERRER PRESIDING CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Attorney for Appellant

Michael V. Giordano 412 East Madison Street Suite 824 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 228-0070 (813) 221-2603 Honorable Robert A. Butterworth Attorney General 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue North Annex, Suite 921 Miami, Florida 33131 Attorney for Appellee

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACT

This appeal addresses the trial court's ruling which denied Michael Griffin an evidentiary hearing on 29 of the issues raised in his motion filed pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, as well as the trial court's denial, following an evidentiary hearing, of Michael Griffin's remaining claims for post-conviction relief.

On May 2, 1990, Mr. Griffin and codefendants Nicholas Tarallo and Samuel Velez were charged with the first degree murder with a firearm of Metro-Dade police officer Joseph Martin; the aggravated assault of Metro-Dade Officer Juan Crespo; armed burglary; two counts of grand theft; and one count of petit theft. Mr. Griffin was also charged with one count of being a felon in possession of a firearm.

Subsequently, State dismissed the aggravated assault charge and refiled it as the attempted murder of Officer Juan Crespo.

On January 30, 1991, Michael Griffin and Samuel Velez were jointly tried before separate juries. On February 8, 1991, Mr. Griffin was convicted of first degree murder of a law enforcement officer; attempted first degree murder of a law enforcement officer; armed burglary; two counts of grand theft; and one count of petit theft. On February 13, 1991, penalty phase proceedings were held and the jury returned a recommendation of death.

On March 7, 1991, Michael Griffin was sentenced to death for

the murder of Officer Joseph Martin; to life imprisonment for the attempted murder of Officer Juan Crespo; and five years incarceration on each grand theft charge, all sentences to run concurrently. Following this Court's affirmation of the convictions and sentence of death in 1994, and the U.S. Supreme Court's denial of certiorari in 1995, Mr. Griffin filed a timely motion to vacate judgments of conviction and sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

In his second amended motion for post-conviction relief, Mr. Griffin raised 31 claims of error. On February 1, 2000, a Huff hearing was held. On May 5, 2000, the trial court summarily denied 23 of Mr. Griffin's claims, and ruled against him on all but two others without an evidentiary hearing. Pursuant to a stipulation between the State and defense counsel, the court held an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Griffin's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel based on trial counsel's failure to investigate and present significant mitigation evidence (claim 9), and Mr. Griffin's allegations that the sentencing court

<u>Griffin v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 966 (Fla. 1994).

The trial court summarily denied Appellant's claims as to numbers 1, 2, 6, 8, 10 - 18, 20 - 23, 26 - 29, and 31. As to claim 3, relating to possible bias by the original trial judge, the court denied the claim as being insufficient. The court also cursorily examined claims 4 and 5, 7, 24, 25, and 30 before denying them too.

failed to independently weigh and evaluate the evidence presented during the sentencing phase of the trial, as well as possible ex parte communications between the sentencing judge and the State of Florida prior to the court's preparation of the sentencing order, and defense counsel's ineffectiveness for failing to object (claim 19). The evidentiary hearing was held on September 15, 20 - 22, and October 19 - 20, 2000.

This case comes before the Court following the trial court's denial of Mr. Griffin's remaining claims following the evidentiary hearing. The appeal will address the issues summarily dismissed by the trial court, those the trial court dismissed with a ruling, and the court's order denying relief on the two issues raised and considered at the evidentiary hearing.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, Mr. Griffin presented substantial evidence of mitigation which had not been presented to the jury. The mitigation evidence was introduced through the testimony of Mr. Griffin's mother, Marianne Griffin, his brother, Charles Griffin, and psychologist Dr. Ernest Bordini. Mr. Griffin also testified as to witnesses he would have called at the penalty phase of his trial.

Mr. Griffin's former counsel, Andrew Kassier, also testified.
Mr. Kassier addressed his reasons for not presenting any expert
psychological testimony; his recollection of his investigation and

preparation for the sentencing hearing; and other issues related to his representation of Mr. Griffin. Assistant State Attorney Penny Brill appeared and gave testimony on matters relating to the preparation of the court's order sentencing Michael Griffin to death.

Kassier testified that at the time he represented Mr. Griffin, he had been licensed to practice law for nine years. His earlier employment had been with the Dade County Public Defender's office; he went into private practice in January 1990. (RV4 - 793) Although Mr. Kassier had previously worked on first degree murder cases in which the penalty was death, (RV4 - 796), Michael Griffin's case was the one in which Kassier personally handled penalty phase proceedings. (RV4 - 854)

Mr. Kassier defended Michael Griffin without the assistance of co-counsel even though he knew Dade County permitted the appointment of a second attorney to defend a capital case (RV4 - 854). Because appointment of co-counsel would have result in a reduction of his fee, he chose not to engage a second attorney to assist him. (RV4 - 855)

At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Kassier had been suspended from the practice of law since 1997. This was the result of his failure to properly represent or handle two clients' cases, his failure to comply with a subpoena for records from the Florida Supreme Court, mismanagement, and irregularities in both his trust and operating accounts. (RV4 - 833) Kassier conceded his desire to practice criminal

law again, and acknowledged the Court would be reviewing his work due to Mr. Griffin's post-conviction proceedings. (RV4 - 834-35)

Prior to trial, Kassier hired a psychiatric expert, Dr. Mary Haber, and a private investigator, Al Fuentes to assist him in preparing Mr. Griffin's defense. (RV4 - 793) Kassier had worked with Dr. Haber before and knew the quality of her work, but could not recall whether or not he had previously retained Dr. Haber to present mitigation evidence at a sentencing hearing. (RV4 - 802) Kassier had never worked with Mr. Fuentes before, and the Griffin case was the first death penalty case Mr. Fuentes had worked on. (RV4 - 856)

Mr. Kassier requested Fuentes gather materials for Dr. Haber to assist her in her evaluation of potential mitigation, but the only records Kassier specifically recalled providing were Mr. Griffin's school records: "there may have been other documents, but I specifically remember and primarily recall that it was getting a hold of Mr. Griffin's medical records, excuse me, school records." (RV4 - 804)

Kassier admitted he did not provide Dr. Haber with the police reports relating to the case, (RV4 - 848-849), or the depositions taken, nor had he attempted to schedule a meeting between her and Mr. Griffin's father, Clarence Thomas "Tommy" Griffin. (RV4 - 851)

Kassier could only recall one phone conversation with Dr.

Haber regarding tests she performed on Michael, and did not remember if he had received a written report of the testing. (RV4 - 849-850) On

February 11, 1991, two days before Mr. Griffin's sentencing hearing was to begin, Dr. Haber submitted a three page summary of her opinions and findings.⁴ The summary was consistent with a previous conversation between Kassier and Dr. Haber during which she advised him she could not provide any evidence to support mitigation. (RV4 - 806) Dr. Haber's sole diagnosis was Mr. Griffin was anti-social, but she did not offer any advice regarding the use of a different expert: "it was not indicated in her report, and I do not recollect that she made a recommendation that I seek out another expert or another type of expert." (RV4 - 806)

Kassier did not call Dr. Haber as a witness because, "I felt overall, based upon her written report and subsequent conversation that I had with her that the kind of testimony she would give would in the long run would prove much more harmful that beneficial to the case."

(RV4 - 809) When questioned about when he had made the decision not to use Dr. Haber, and whether the decision had been made prior to receiving her February 11th letter, Mr. Kassier could not remember. It was apparent from the last sentence of Dr. Haber's letter that her conclusions were not based on a review of all the evidence: "I have yet to hear from Michael's father and as yet have not received the records from Youth Hall." (RV4 - 844 - 45)

Kassier notified the prosecution of his decision not to present the testimony of Dr. Haber on February 11, 1991. Penalty phase

3.

The summary was admitted into evidence as exhibit A-

proceedings began two days later. Kassier did not request a continuance or request more time to hire another expert to evaluate Mr. Griffin. (RV4-852)

Mr. Kassier recounted details of the investigation he and Mr. Fuentes conducted. After an extensive interview with Tommy Griffin, the decision was made not to contact or interview other potential witnesses, including Tommy's former wife, Michael's mother Marianne, or his brother, Charles, because Tom Griffin told them Marianne and Charles would not be helpful. (RV4 - 810-11) Thus, during penalty phase, the only witness who testified about Michael Griffin's family life was Tommy Griffin. Not surprisingly, Tommy Griffin did not acknowledge the abuse and neglect Michael suffered at his hand.

Tommy Griffin was the first defense witness to testify at the penalty phase. His testimony is found at AR - 3639-3671. Based on the number of pages of testimony, and assuming a rate of approximately one minute per page of transcript, it appears Tommy Griffin testified for less than 45 minutes on his son's behalf before a jury that was going to recommend whether Michael live or die. The elder Griffin's testimony was characterized by terse, one or two word answers, a general lack of detail, and an inability to assume responsibility for his contribution to his son's problems. For example, when asked:

Q: When Michael was an infant, was there any special medical attention that you had to have for him?

A: Yes. I had to put him in the hospital when he was six, eight months old.

Q: Do you remember why you had to put him in the hospital?

A: He wasn't being taken care of properly. AR 3642-43.

When asked to explain why he had not contacted these other potential witnesses, Kassier said:

After speaking with Tommy Griffin and also after speaking with my investigator, Al Fuentes, who had also spoken to Mr. Griffin, we were aware that Mike's mother, Marianne, had very severe mental health problems. And neither Al nor myself believed that she would be able to be the kind of witness that could be beneficial to Michael - in terms of being able to be a good reporter or a good source of information about Michael's background because of the particular circumstances of Michael's childhood... She wasn't with him that much, during the period of time that I felt was most relevant and in explaining how Michael grew up. (RV4 - 810-811)

Regarding Charles Griffin, Kassier advised:

he was not available and I didn't think that he would have very much to add.

Again, it was the same dilemma that I was facing because of the circumstances of Michael's life, having to determine which witnesses were in the best position to know how he grew up and the circumstances under which he grew up. I did not think that his brother, Charles, would be able to do that - I didn't see that there was any additional information that he would be able to provide, that I wasn't able to gain testimony from the father, from Tom Griffin." (RV4 - 813-814)

Kassier also claimed "there was not a lot of contact between Michael and his brother during their formative years." (RV4 - 866) Charles Griffin's mother, Geneva Hammock Griffin, was not

In fact, Michael Griffin was hospitalized when he was about two months old because he was the victim of severe neglect.

called as a witness; Mr. Kassier could not recall whether Michael had ever told him about her.

In the same vein, Kassier did not call Linda Burton Smith, Mr. Griffin's stepmother, because, "my understanding, after speaking to my client and my investigator, was that there was not a particularly good relationship between them — and that what she would offer would be negative." Again, Kassier offered no evidence of an attempt to contact and interview Ms. Burton Smith to evaluate her testimony before she dismissed as a potential witness. (RV4 - 814-815)

Likewise, when asked about another potential witness, Steve Minnis, Kassier said, "my understanding was that he wasn't going to be available to testify. That is what was related to me by Mr. Fuentes." (RV4 - 817)

When asked if he would have elicited testimony suggesting Michael had been a victim of sexual abuse while in his father's care, and if such testimony would have been helpful to the defense, Kassier acknowledged if he had known of the information, he should have explored it. (RV4 - 866) When quizzed about stories that Michael's father had driven drunk with Michael and Charles in the car, and whether such information would have helped illustrate the quality of Michael's life with his father, Kassier was dismissive,

stating it would have been consistent with other evidence the jury had heard. He conceded evidence Tommy hit Michael would have been helpful. (RV4 - 867-68)

Mr. Kassier was questioned about a possible intimidation attempt by a police officer against Steve Minnis. Kassier said he had asked Minnis "to please wait outside until there was a break, and I had an opportunity to speak with him." However, Minnis was not present when Kassier looked for him. Later, Kassier asked Al Fuentes to find Minnis, but they were not able to get him into court. (RV4 - 817-19)

On the issue of the sentencing proceedings and the court's sentencing order, the judge requested Kassier prepare a memorandum of mitigation factors proved at trial. The judge also requested a memo from the State.

According to Kassier, the penalty phase was done in three parts. Part one was the presentation of evidence and witnesses before the jury. In part two, after the jury made its recommendation, the judge was supposed to give the defense and prosecution an opportunity to present additional witnesses and testimony. Part three was when sentence would be announced.

(RV4 - 824) However, the trial record reflects: the penalty

Tommy Griffin testified: "I drank, yes. I quit about ten years ago. I suppose I drink a little too much at times, yes, sir." AR - 3654. He did not, however, consider himself to be an alcoholic.

phase began on February 13, 1991; on that day and the next, witnesses were presented and the prosecution and defense argued their respective positions (AR - 3629 - 3841); on February 14, 1991, the jury returned its recommendation (AR - 3836); on March 7, 1991, Mr. Griffin made a personal statement to the court (AR - 3845 - 3862), and immediately thereafter, the court read the previously-prepared sentencing order (AR 3863-3884). Thus, Mr. Griffin was not given an opportunity to speak until the court had already determined sentence and prepared the sentencing order.

Mr. Kassier was asked if he had told Al Fuentes the defense didn't have a chance in this case because the judge was a good friend of the deceased officer's father, but the Court would not allow Mr. Kassier to answer the question. (RV4 - 858)

Prosecutor Brill testified she was the author of the State's sentencing memorandum, but did not recall who requested she do it. (RV4 - 895) While preparing the memo, she did not receive any inquiries from Judge Snyder. Although she believed she sent a copy of the sentencing memorandum to Mr. Kassier, the cover letter did not reflect it was sent to him. Her recollection was that Mr. Kassier was handed a copy of the memorandum with a cover letter. Ms. Brill dropped off

the memo at Judge Snyder's office, but could not recall if the Judge was present. (RV4 - 904) According to Ms. Brill, the sentencing order differed from the memorandum because the memorandum did not address the weight to be given to the aggravators or whether the aggravators outweighed the mitigators. (RV4 - 908)

Defense counsel presented the testimony of Dr. Ernest

Bordini, a clinical psychologist with a specialty in Forensic

Neuropsychology. (RV2 - 270) Before preparing his opinion,

Dr. Bordini reviewed more than "a banker's box of documents"

A licensed psychologist since 1988, Dr. Bordini received his undergraduate degree from Boston College, and both his Master's and Ph.D. from the University of Florida. He performed his dissertation research at the North Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center. He was appointed to an assistant professorship in the Department of Psychiatry, Forensic Psychiatry, at the University of Florida, where he performed up to 1000 neuropsychological evaluations, supervising maybe half as many more. His current practice provides neuropsychological and psychological assessments for a number of municipal and government agencies.

Dr. Bordini belongs to a number of professional societies, and has held several leadership positions, including serving as the founder and President of the Neuropsychology Interest Division with the Florida Psychological Association. He has received numerous awards, including being named Distinguished Psychologist by the Florida Psychological Association in 2000.

Finally, Dr. Bordini has done extensive work in the areas of clinical psychology and neuropsychology in the State of Florida in criminal cases, including capital cases. The State stipulated to his designation as an expert and his Curriculum Vitae was admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit A. (RV2 - 272-77)

encompassing the available medical and school records of Michael Griffin, depositions of family members, records from the Department of Corrections, police reports, and witness statements. (RV2 - 281)

Dr. Bordini did a clinical interview with Mr. Griffin, and spent more than three hours obtaining answers to a 24-page questionnaire which dealt with background history, attitude towards parents, childhood experiences, etc. He then conducted another, more focused interview to expand upon on the information provided. (RV2 - 281) He reviewed the evaluations and results of another defense psychologist, Dr. Eisenstein, and administered tests to Mr. Griffin over a two-day period at the Dade County jail. In total, twenty-five procedures were performed, two of which were given to determine if Mr. Griffin was malingering. Dr. Bordini was able to rule out malingering. (RV2 - 288)

In Dr. Bordini's opinion, Mr. Griffin suffered from neuropsychological impairment. (RV2 - 284) He supported his diagnosis with a variety of observations, including Mr. Griffin's difficulties with certain types of psycho-motor skills, that is, the ability to manipulate, coordinate, and write quickly. (RV2 - 287) In terms of functional abilities,

Dr. Eisenstein's report was stipulated to and entered into the record at hearing as defense exhibit ___.

Michael Griffin's "visual memory, depending on the task that you gave him, range all the way normal (SIC) on some tasks to severely impaired." (RV2 - 293)

Mr. Griffin's constructional skills, the ability to draw complex figures from memory, was also in the severely-impaired range. (RV2 - 294) Additionally, in executive function testing, which requires identification of appropriate and inappropriate responses and tests the ability to plan, organize, and control one's behavior, moods, and emotions, Mr. Griffin's impairment was within the range of "loud to probably moderate impairment." (RV2 - 294-95)

Dr. Bordini described Mr. Griffin's difficulty with abstract reasoning, i.e., the ability to think flexibly, which he found to be indicative of frontal lobe damage. (RV2 - 296) Testing revealed per severation, also associated with frontal lobe difficulty, that is, the inability to shift gears, and he noted Mr. Griffin's performance on Dr. Eisenstein's test showed the same difficulty. (RV2 - 297)

Dr. Bordini's observations of Mr. Griffin also supported the diagnosis of frontal lobe impairment; he found Michael had difficulty with impulse and anger control. (RV2 - 298) He saw evidence of neuropsychological impairment in Mr. Griffin's school records, (RV2 - 299), and, in Mr. Griffin's history,

evidence of risk factors that would predispose him to neuropsychological impairment. (RV2 - 300)

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