IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-457

MICHAEL ALLEN GRIFFIN,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131

PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

##

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

Counsel presented evidence that Defendant groaned at time when he was with the police. (R. 692) He also presented photographs of Defendant's condition on the night of the crime. (R. 689-94) Counsel presented evidence that Defendant appeared to be in physical distress. (R. 695-96) He presented evidence that the police did not immediately take Defendant to the hospital for treatment. (R. 697-701) Defendant testified that

he was bitten by dogs and beaten at the time of his arrest and that he had been shot during the crime. (R. 708-10) Defendant claimed that he was in and out of consciousness as a result of his injuries. (R. 712)

After considering this evidence, the trial court denied the motion to suppress. (R. 736) However, at trial, the State elected not to introduce the confession. When Defendant complained on direct appeal that the trial court had erred in denying the motion to suppress, this Court found the claim meritless and noted that the confession had not been introduced. *Griffin v. State*, 639 So. 2d 966, 972 & n.4 (Fla. 1994).

As counsel did move to suppress the confession, he was not ineffective in failing to do so. *Strickland*. Moreover, since the State did not seek to introduce the statement at trial, there is no reasonable probability that any failure of counsel with regard to suppression of the confession affected the outcome of the trial. As such, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

## X. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIMS REGARDING THE CCP INSTRUCTION, THE ALLEGED BURDEN SHIFTING AND THE ALLEGED INNOCENCE OF DEATH.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court should have granted him an evidentiary hearing on his claims that his

counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction on CCP, for failing to claim that the penalty phase jury instructions shifted the burden of proof and for failing to object to a comment by the trial court about voting in the penalty phase. He also asserts that he is innocent of the death penalty. However, the lower court properly summarily denied these claims.

With regard to the CCP instruction, the instruction given at Defendant's 1991 trial was later held invalid in *Jackson v*. *State*, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994). However, this Court has repeatedly held that a defendant is only entitled to relief on this claim if counsel objected to the instruction and the issue was raised on direct appeal and that counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the instruction in the trial occurred before *Jackson* was issued. *See Waterhouse v*. *State*, 792 So. 2d 1176, 1196 (Fla. 2001). As counsel did not object, the issue was not raised on direct appeal and the trial occurred before *Jackson*, the lower court properly denied this claim.

With regard to the alleged burden shifting, claims that the jury instructions shifted the burden of proof and claims regarding comments by the State are claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Owen v. State*, 773 So. 2d 510, 515 n.11 (Fla. 2000); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 989

(Fla. 2000); Demps v. Dugger, 714 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1998); Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998). As such, the lower court properly denied these claims as procedurally barred.

Moreover, the courts have repeatedly rejected the claim that the instruction improperly shifts the burden of proof. San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997); Kennedy v. State, 455 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1984). As such, the claim was properly summarily denied.

With regard to the claim regarding the trial court comment on voting in the penalty phase, this issue was not raised below. As such, it is not properly before this Court. *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988)(post conviction claim raised for first time on appeal and never presented to the circuit court was procedurally barred on appeal).

With regard to the alleged innocence of the death penalty, this claim is devoid of merit and was properly denied. To prove a claim of actual innocence of the death penalty, a defendant must show "based on the evidence proffered plus all record evidence, a fair probability that a rational fact finder would have entertained a reasonable doubt as to the existence of those facts which are prerequisites under state or federal law for the imposition of the death penalty." Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S.

333, 346 (1992)(quoting Sawyer v. Whitley, 945 F.2d 812 (5th Cir. 1991)). The Court further noted that "the 'actual innocence' requirement must focus on those elements that render a defendant eligible for the death penalty, and not on additional mitigating evidence that was prevented from being introduced as a result of a claimed constitutional error." *Id.* at 347. In applying this test to Florida's sentencing law, the Eleventh Circuit stated:

a petitioner may make a colorable showing that he is actually innocent of the death penalty by presenting evidence that an alleged constitutional error implicates <u>all</u> of the aggravating factors found to be present by the sentencing body. That is, but for the constitutional error, the sentencing body <u>could not</u> have found <u>any</u> aggravating factors and thus petitioner was ineligible for the death penalty.

Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166, 1183 (11th Cir. 1991)(en banc). This formulation was cited with approval in Sawyer. Sawyer, 505 U.S. at 347 & n.15.

Here, the trial court found four aggravating circumstances: prior violent felony, during the course of a burglary, avoid arrest merged with murder of a law enforcement officer and CCP. As noted above, Defendant claim regarding CCP were properly rejected. While Defendant asserts that his prior violent felony conviction should be set aside, it has not been, and this issue

was not raised on direct appeal. As such, this aggravator remains valid. *Buenoano v. State*, 708 So. 2d 941, 952 (Fla. 1998); *Stano v. State*, 708 So. 2d 271, 275-76 (Fla. 1998). Further, Defendant's attacks on the during the course of a burglary and avoid arrest aggravators are meritless. *See* Issues XIII & XIX, *infra*. As such, Defendant has not shown that there are no applicable aggravators in this case, and the claim was properly summarily denied.

### XI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT.

Defendant next contends that the lower court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to ensure his presence throughout trial. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

Defendant bases this claim on alleged problems with the configuration of the courtroom and the use of dual juries. However, in *Boyett v. State*, 688 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1996), this Court noted that the appropriate definition of "presence" is that the defendant is physically in the courtroom and has the opportunity to be heard through counsel. As Defendant does not even allege that he was not physically in the courtroom or that he was not heard through counsel, the lower court properly rejected the claim of ineffective assistance. *Kokal*, 718 So. 2d

at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. The denial should be affirmed.

## XII. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARD THE EXPERT WITNESS JURY INSTRUCTION.

Defendant next asserts that lower court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the standard jury instruction on expert testimony. However, the lower court properly denied this claim, as this Court has repeatedly rejected this claim. *See Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650, 665 & n.10 (Fla. 2000).

## XIII. THE CLAIMS REGARDING THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS ON AGGRAVATORS, THE ALLEGED AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATOR AND THE FAILURE TO FIND MITIGATING WERE PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in denying his claim that the trial court improperly instructed the jury on the aggravating circumstances, that an automatic aggravating circumstance was considered and that the trial court erred in rejecting his claims of mitigation. However, the lower court properly summarily denied these claims.

Claims regarding the alleged vagueness of aggravating circumstances, the constitutionality of aggravating circumstances and the failure to find mitigation are all claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 667 (Fla. 2000); Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1335 (Fla. 1997). As such, the lower court properly found them to be procedurally barred. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), cert. denied, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991).

Moreover, Defendant does not assert on which aggravating factors were alleged vaguely instructed, why the instructions were vague or what mitigation the trial court failed to properly consider. As such, the claims were also properly denied as facially insufficient. *Ragsdale v. State*, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla. 1998).

Finally, this Court has rejected the claim that the jury instruction on during the course of a felony, prior violent felony, and avoid arrest.<sup>6</sup> Floyd v. State, 808 So. 2d 175, 186 (Fla. 2002)(during the course of a felony); Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 513 n.7 (Fla. 1999)(prior violent felony); Wike v. State, 698 So. 2d 817, 822 (Fla. 1997)(avoid arrest). This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that during the course of a felony is an unconstitutional automatic aggravator. E.g., Sims v. State, 681 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 520

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The issue of the vagueness of the CCP instruction was addressed in Issue X, *supra*.

U.S. 1199 (1997); Kearse v. State, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995); see also Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988). As such, the denial of this claim should be affirmed.

# XIV. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED THE CALDWELL CLAIM.

Defendant next contends that the lower court improperly denied his claim that the jury was instructed in violation of *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985), and that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this claim. However, these issues are procedurally barred because it could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Oats v. Dugger*, 638 So. 2d 20, 21 & n.1 (Fla. 1994). Moreover, informing the jury that their recommendation is advisory is a correct statement of Florida law and does not violate *Caldwell*. *Dugger v. Adams*, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989); *Combs v. State*, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988). The claim was properly summarily denied.

## XV. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING JURY INTERVIEWS.

Defendant next asserts that the bar rules prohibiting counsel from contacting juror is unconstitutional. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim. This Court has repeatedly held that this is a claim that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Young v. State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999); Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 204-05 n.1 & 2 (Fla. 1998). As such, it is procedurally barred in a post conviction motion.

## XVI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Defendant next contends that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional. However, this claim was properly summarily denied. The issue is procedurally barred because it could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Byrd v. State*, 597 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, this Court had repeatedly rejected this claim as without merit. *Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 637, 647-48 (Fla. 1995); *Wuornos v. State*, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 & n.5 (Fla. 1994); *Fotopoulus v. State*, 608 So. 2d 784, 794 & n.7 (Fla. 1992); *Arango v. State*, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1982). The denial of the claim should be affirmed.

## XVII. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT APPELLATE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE BECAUSE THE RECORD WAS INCOMPLETE.

Defendant next asserts that he received ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal because the record on appeal was not complete. However, the lower properly denied this claim because issues of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel are not properly raised in a motion for post conviction relief. *Thompson v. State*, 759 So. 2d 650, 660 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, the claim is facially insufficient because Defendant does not allege what issues he was prevented from raising because of the unrecorded sidebar conference, the typographical error or the lack of transcripts of some pretrial hearings. See Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 660 (Fla. 2000); Ferguson v. Singletary, 632 So. 2d 53, 58 (Fla. 1993). The claim was properly summarily denied.

#### XVIII. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court should have granted him an evidentiary hearing on the alleged cumulative effect of the alleged errors. However, where the individual errors alleged are either procedurally barred or without merit, the claim of cumulative error also fails. *Downs v. State*, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). As seen above, Defendant's individual claims are all procedurally barred or without merit. As such, the lower court properly denied the claim of cumulative error.

## XIX. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING THE AVOID ARREST AGGRAVATOR.

Defendant next contends that the lower court should have granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the avoid arrest aggravating factor. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

First, Defendant asserts that this aggravator is invalid because it is an automatic aggravator like the during the course of a felony aggravator. However, the claim that the during the course of a felony aggravator is an improper automatic aggravator has been repeatedly rejected. *E.g.*, *Sims v. State*, 681 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1996), *cert. denied*, 520 U.S. 1199 (1997); *Kearse v. State*, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995); *see also Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 231 (1988). As such, this analogy only shows that the lower court properly rejected this claim.

Defendant next asserts that the aggravator does not genuinely narrow the class of death eligible defendants. Defendant's crime did not become a first degree murder because he killed a police officer and not all first degree murders involve the killing of a police officer. As such, the application of this aggravator does limit the class of deatheligible defendants. The lower court properly rejected this claim.

Finally, Defendant contends that the inclusion of this aggravator resulted in a impressible doubling of aggravators. However, the trial court merged the avoid arrest and murder of a law enforcement officer aggravators. (R. 504-06, 508-09) As such, no improper doubling occurred. *See*, *e.g.*, *Gaskin v. State*, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 n. 13 (Fla. 1999). The claim was properly

summarily denied.

## XX. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT DEFENDANT IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED.

Defendant next asserts that he is insane to be executed. However, this claim cannot be raised until an execution is imminent. See Herrera' v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390, 405-06 (1993)("[T]he issue of sanity [to be executed] is properly considered in proximity to the execution."); Martinez-Villareal v. Stewart, 118 F.3d 625 (9th Cir. 1997)(same), aff'd, 523 U.S. 637 (1998). Here, Defendant's execution is not imminent; no warrant had been issued for his execution, and no date has been set. As such, this claim is not ripe for adjudication at this juncture and was properly summarily denied.

## XXI. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM REGARDING THE PHOTOGRAPHS.

Defendant next contends that the lower court improperly summarily denied his claim that the trial court abused its discretion allowing the State to introduce gruesome photographs. However, this claim was properly summarily denied.

Claims regarding a trial court's ruling on the admissibility of evidence are claims that could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. As such, these claims are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. *Francis v. Barton*, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 501 U.S. 1245 (1991). The lower court therefore properly summarily denied this claim.

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